FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 4/29/2022 9:31 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/29/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II NO. 54939-5		
SUPREME COURT NO. 100890-2		
IN THE SUPREME COURT		
FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON		
MICHAEL J. COLLINS PRO SE		
PETITIONER		
v STATE OF WASHINGTON		
DEPARTMENT OF LABOR		
& INDUSTRIES		
DEODONDENTO		
RESPONDENTS		
PETITION FOR REVIEW		
BASED ON DIVISION II APRIL 4, 2022 DENIAL OF		
FEBRUARY 4, 2022 MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION		
On Review Of The Pierce County Superior Court		

MICHAEL J. COLLINS PRO SE PO Box 111483 Tacoma, WA. 98411 (253) 348-5842

RAP 13.4(a)(b)(1)(2)(3) - RAP 18.17

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Comes forth Michael J. Collins Pro se, to timely file this PETITION FOR REVIEW, to the Washington State Supreme Court.

B. DIVISION II COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Division II Court Of Appeals, nowhere in its

January 19, 2022 decision, App. Ex.2, then as it denied
my February 4, 2022 timely Motion For Reconsideration,
ever properly, or substantively addressed the factual/legal
argument in my Appeal, since Department adjudication,
and since Board, and Superior Court Appeal. App. Ex.1.

This, as illegal 'SEGREGATION' by the Department in the adjudication of my Neck Injury Claim ZB21147, and Neck Injury Claim ZB23273, was Superior Court ignored.

As the basis for my legal argument, my Neck Injury Claim ZB23273, only had to be filed, because the Department would not allow my Right Shoulder and Neck Injuries Claim ZB21147, to be medically adjudicated as a statutory Right Shoulder, and Neck Injuries claim, from my January 30, 2017 Right Shoulder, and Neck Injuries, but only as a Right Shoulder statutory Occupational Disease Claim ZB21147, as if,,, my January 30, 2017 Right Shoulder, and Neck Injuries, never even took place.

See my Superior Court Appellants Opening Brief, as CP at 5-66, as BIIA Docket 17 25495, is specific to Right Shoulder Occupational Disease Claim ZB21147, and BIIA Docket 18 10796, is specific to my Neck Injury

Claim ZB23273, but was illegally 'segregated', based on legally separate Right Shoulder Claim ZB21147, as supported by CP at 5-66 App. Ex. 6., as, ,,, 'current medical opinion'',,, is specific to Right Shoulder [only],,, statutory Occupational Disease Claim ZB21147, as the Department would not allow a ,,, 'current medical opinion'',,, specific to my timely filed statutory Neck Injury Claim ZB23273.

The Court Of Appeals decision, never legally decided the legal relevance of why the Department's illegal 'segregation' of my Neck Injury, specific to Claim ZB21147, then Neck Injury 'segregation' perpetuated in my also timely filed Neck Injury Claim ZB23273, fulfills my *prima facie* obligation as a Question Of Law and Fact.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

CP at 5-66 App. Ex.s 1,2,3,8,9,10,11,12,13, as Dr. Joan Sullivan's substantive testimony at the Board Of Industrial Insurance Appeals, was all the medical testimony I, Michael J. Collins needed, as Dr. Sullivan App. Ex. 1, at 2-4, supports App. Ex. 2, at 12-15, then supports App. Ex. 3, at 24-25, then will same support App. Ex. 8, at 5-6, and 23-25, then will same support App. Ex. 9, at 19-25, and 1-20, as App. Ex. 9, then will support App. Ex.10 all, then also will same support App. Ex. 11, at 24-25 and all, then as all inclusive will support App. Ex.12, at 1-7, as my January 30, 2017 statutory Neck Injury specific to Claim ZB21147, was never Department adjudicated as a January 30, 2017 Neck Injury, as App. Ex. 8 proves.

Then as the Department 'Segregation' of my January 30, 2017 Neck Injury, must be legally based on a prior medical history, known, diagnosed, and treated Neck condition, but for which there is no prior medical history, and fact is supported by what must be a legal interpretation of ,,,'pre-existing',,, that must, but does not my case support ,,,'Segregation'. And Dr. Joan Sullivans' Board testimony App. Ex. 9, at 19-25, and next page 1-20 as App. Ex. 9 as specific, presents "pre-existing" as specific, and as not open for convenient interpretation, to illegally 'Segregate' my January 30, 2017 Neck Injury, as Dr. Sullivan,,, App. Ex. 9 all,,, ,,,"The reason it was said to be preexisting was based on the studies that were done of his neck"... As studies not done until August 23, 2017.

As Dr. Joan Sullivan could not know when she examined me August 21, 2017, whether my Neck condition was 'active' or not, or prior to my January 30, 2017 Neck Injury, App. Ex. 3, at 24-25, then she could not know if I had a legal 'pre-existing' Neck condition, to then legally 'segregate', and as 'Segregation' is a 'legal' determination to be made by the Department only, not,,, by a medical doctor.

Then as my *prima facie* legal argument is fulfilled, the Department must present an affirmative defense, as the burden now falls onto the Department, to prove with a specific Neck medical exam, that resulted in a known, diagnosed, and treated Neck condition, prior to my January 30, 2017 Neck Injury, to legally 'segregate'.

As my Issues Presented For Review, must include the Department legal obligation to testify not protected by any deliberative process immunity, or any such privilege to be exempt from testimony, then created an RCW 51.52.115 'irregularity', but Division II January 19, 2022 decision, (this Petition App. Ex. 2.), does not address specific Division II own published opinion, that would only exempt the Department from a testimony obligation, if a claimants' own legal process incompetence, or legal malingering, as not relevant to my case, but was *McDonald s'* neglect.

But the Board relied on erroneous case law, as Superior Court affirmed, and that Division II affirmed, as its own published opinion below erroneously cited, ignored this 'conflict' in its January 19, 2022 decision.

And my Writ Of Mandamus as timely filed in Superior Court, must be decided, as specific to Department mandatory, as ministerial, then not,,, discretionary duty, to legally ,,, 'SEGREGATE'...

D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE ARGUMENT</u>

As nowhere in the Division II January 19, 2022

decision, does it even care to address its own published
opinion *McDonald v Department Of Labor & Industries,*104 Wn. App. 617, 17 P.3d 1195 Division II Court Of
Appeals (2001),,, as must be interpreted by this Supreme
Court as a legal inequity, and as Division II remiss, as I,
Appellant, made clear since my timely Raised Objections
at the Board Of Appeals since Board IAJ, and Department
cited *McDonald* as erroneous, to avoid the Department

being compelled to testify, but *McDonald* does not preclude Department testimony as specific to my case, as I have medical testimony complete, to fulfill my Neck Injury not able to be legally 'segregated' as a matter of law. RCW 51.32.080(5), and (3)(a),(5) is the statutory mandate the Department did not fulfill,,, to be able to legally 'segregate' my Neck Injury specific to either Claim ZB21147, or Claim ZB23273.

Then my Writ Of Mandamus as proper to be granted as the Department had no discretion to 'segregate' my Neck Injury because any such statutory scheme specific to RCW 51.32.080, or RCW 51.32.100 does not support my case specific Neck Injury 'segregation'.

The Board, Superior Court, nor Court Of Appeals

ever decided this specific matter of law criteria.

There is no legal scenario, specific to the

Department as possessing no discretion to illegally
'segregate' a body part, that has no 'pre-existing'

condition as my Neck Injury, and its now known

after my January 30, 2017 Neck Injury, subsequent

condition, that would either then as a matter of law

give the Department discretion to illegally 'segregate'

my Neck Injury, or to avoid testimony.

1. <u>Procedural Facts Legal Argument</u>

My Procedural legal argument originates at the Department, as the Department is Washington State Constitution obligated to provide me as a claimant, Procedural Safeguards, in the adjudication of my Neck Injury Claim ZB21147, and Neck Injury Claim ZB23273.

These Washington State Procedural Safeguards are not discretionary, but are mandatory, and ministerial.

Article 1 Section 3 Washington State Constitution, provides me a 'protected property interest' specific to the Department as the 'original and sole tribunal'.

I possess[ed] as fact *de jure*, 'protected property interest' specific to my Neck Injury Claim ZB23273.

Supra: February 4, 2022 Motion For Reconsideration. RAP 13.4 (a)(b)(3)

This, because my Claim ZB21147 was Department approved, then because the Department illegally 'segregated' my Neck Injury Claim ZB23273, but as fact, based directly on Claim ZB21147, CP at 5-66, App. Ex. 6 ","current medical opinion",, is factually, as directly speaking of,,, original Right Shoulder, and Neck Injuries Claim ZB21147 "current medical opinion".

The Department must provide me, as the claimant, a 'pre-deprivation' process, which must also be the Board Of Appeals Hearing. Then the Board Hearing must also have jurisdiction over both Claim ZB21147 Docket 17 25495, and Claim ZB23273 Docket 18 10796.

But, as of December 12, 2017, the Board did as fact have jurisdiction specific to Claim ZB21147 as

Docket 17 25495, but January 16, 2018, the Department 'segregated' my Neck Injury Claim ZB23273, as directly based on its (Claim ZB21147 rejection, already within the Boards' jurisdiction,,, as of December 12, 2017).

Again, see CP at 5-66 App. Ex. 6, as "current medical opinion", is as fact, directly related to Right Shoulder statutory Occupational Disease Claim ZB21147,,, when my Neck Injury Claim ZB23273, is a completely, and legally separate, statutory <u>Injury</u> claim.

Because Claim ZB21147 was approved, for whatever reason, I possess Article 1 section 3 Washington Constitution ,,,'protected property interest',,, to demand my approved Claim ZB21147, not be statutorily perverted, for sole intent for Department to 'segregate' my separate

Supra: February 4, 2022 Motion For Reconsideration RAP 13.4 (a)(b)(3)

Neck Injury Claim ZB23273, when my timely filed Department Investigation into my January 30, 2017 Right Shoulder, and Neck Injuries Claim ZB21147, was never Department completed. CP at 5-66 App. Ex. 15, proves I claimant, timely requested of the Department to investigate my January 30, 2017 Injuries, but it deprived me my Washington State Constitutional right to a 'pre-deprivation' process.

When state law has not substantively addressed my Washington State Constitutional right to a 'predeprivation' process, and 'protected property interest', this court can turn to federal law to support my legal argument, and find the Departments' lack of discretion specific to 'segregation', supports granting Mandamus.

Goldberg v Kelly 397 U. S. 254 90 S. Ct. 1011 (1970),,, and Mathews v Eldridge 424 U. S. 319, 96 S. Ct. 893 (1976),,, both support my 'protected property interest', as once a claim is approved, as my Right Shoulder statutory Occupational Disease Claim ZB21147, it cannot be be altered, or statutorily perverted, for the sole intent for the Department to illegally 'segregate' my separate Neck [only] Injury Claim ZB23273, without first providing me a 'predeprivation' process,,, but never Department afforded me, but as Washington State Constitution affords me.

This as RCW 51.04.010 "all phases of the premises", does not preclude my Writ Of Mandamus as, I have, and am, exhausting all my 'ACT' administrative remedies.

Supra: February 4, 2022 Motion For Reconsideration RAP 13.4 (a)(b)(3)

2. Overview Of Legal Facts Argument

Any legal action not,,, originating,,, at the trial court level, such as per the 'ACT",,, is not bound by published opinions only, as would be a legal action origin at the trial court. *In re: Diane K. Deridder Docket*No. 98 22312,,, then allows *In re: Pablo Garcia Dckt.*05 15239 (March 28, 2006),,, to cite as persuasive legal argument, supporting compelling a Department claims manager to testify, as a Department claims manager is not a policy-maker, and not protected by any such deliberative process privilege.

Then as medical doctor testimony, I have sufficiently obtained, to fulfill my medical testimony legal obligation,

Supra: February 4, 2022 Motion For Reconsideration RAP 13.4 (a)(b)(2)

is not the *prima facie* dynamic I need, but a claims manager testimony only, per *In re: Pablo Garcia,,,* then the burden shifts to the Department to provide an 'affirmative defense', to prove a legally 'pre-existing' specific diagnosed, known, and treated Neck condition existed prior to my January 30, 2017 Right Shoulder and Neck Injuries, to legally 'segregate' my Neck in 2017.

This must be the dispositive ministerial mandate for the Department, and from which they will fail.

E. ARGUMENT: WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Ft. nt. 6 herein, must include *State v Fitzpatrick*5 Wn. App. 661, 491, P.2d 262, Division II Court Of
Appeals (1971),,, as Court Of Appeals, in its January
19, 2022 decision, ignored its RAP 13.4 (a)(b)(2)

'conflict', *State v Fitzpatrick,,,* as RAP 13.4 (a)(b)(2), as by Division II not discussing *McDonald, v Department Of Labor & Industries, or State v Fitzpatrick,* as I cited since my Raised Objections to *McDonald v Department Of Labor & Industries*, at the Board level, then demonstrates as dispositive, the Division II is at 'conflict' with their own published opinions.

This, as only a Department person,,, can answer to ,,,'SEGREGATION',,, as 'segregation',,, is a 'legal concept',,, to be determined by the Department, not a medical concept determined by a medical doctor.

This is confirmed as written in Chapter 5 pages 38-40, of the Medical Examiners' Handbook, as published by the Department Of Labor & Industries.

Supra: Superior Court McDonald argument RP at 11-18

See my 'Raised Objections', as timely filed in the Certified Appeal Board Record, as filed in Superior Court specific to No. 19-2-09661-1, as my de novo Appeal to Superior Court specific to Docket 17 25495, and Docket 18 10796, as my 'Raised Objections' are specific to my Objections to the Board incorrectly citing *McDonald v Department Of Labor & Industries* to then protect the Department at the Board level.

McDonald never timely requested Department testimony in his BIIA request of witnesses, I did, and McDonald never timely Raised any Objections, I did.

In re: Gail Conelly BIIA, Dec., 97 3849 (1998),,,
the Department had a 'choice', then 'discretion',,,
specific to its decision, not so, specific to Department

'segregation' of my Neck Injury Claim ZB21147, or my separate Neck [only] Injury Claim ZB23273, as with no prior my Neck medical history 'pre-existing' known, diagnosed, and treated neck condition to legally 'segregate'. Without Department discretion to 'segregate',,, Writ Of Mandamus must be granted. *McGuire v Department Of Labor & Industries 179*Wash. 645, 38 P.2d 266 (1934),,, supports my
Petition For Review specific to RAP 13.4 (a)(b)(1), as this State Supreme Court reversed the Superior Court, as based on a vital Question Of Law and Fact.

The 'vital issue' in my case specific, is the legal concept of 'segregation',,, as the Question Of Law and Fact, Department illegally implemented.

See McGuire CP at 5-66, CP at 12.

See in *McGuire*, ,,, "In answering questions as to the extent of the partial permanent disability resulting solely from the injury, had there been no preexisting arthritis, the doctors necessarily not only passed upon a question of fact, but upon a question of law. Without knowing their opinion on the matter of whether the arthritis was active or inactive prior to the injury, their reports and testimony do not reach the real question in the case"...

See *McGuire* in my February 4, 2022 filed Motion For Reconsideration, presenting a prevailing legal argument for my case specific, as medical testimony in *McGuire*, and in my case specific, is not ultimately

","pre-existing',,, dispositive, but what is, in-context to my case specific argument of ","pre-existing',,, specific to *McGuire*, and specific to my case Department illegal 'segregation' of my January 30, 2017 Right Shoulder, and Neck Injuries Claim ZB21147, and separate subsequent Neck [only] Injury Claim ZB23273, is,,, what was a known, diagnosed, and as in *McGuire*,,, what was active, or not, prior to my January 30, 2017 Neck Injury.

The 'Permanent Partial Disability' determination in *McGuire,*,, becomes not relevant to my legal argument.

But what is directly related as prevailing for me, and as for *McGuire*, is,,, what 'pre-existed' prior to injury?

Refer back to Dr. Joan Sullivan Board testimony

in my case specific, as CP at 5-66 App. Ex. 3, as "I can't know when I do am IME if something is active". CP at 5-66 App. Ex. 9, IME Dr. Joan Sullivan, as 2 pages from the Board transcripts as page 25, and (page 26, at 7-14, my question specific to,,, 'anything in your records that shows I had a pre-existing condition in my cervical neck prior to my injury on January 30, 2017'). Dr. Sullivan has no (my claim rejection) answer.

So even if Department counsel argues that there is no proof of an injury, now we are back to why the Department did not complete the statutory Investigation I requested specific to January 30, 2017, and,,, the Department only,,, must answer as to why my June 21, 2017 timely filed Right Shoulder, and Neck Injuries

Claim ZB21147,,, was not medically adjudicated as a timely filed Injuries Claim ZB21147.

See CP at 5-66 App. Ex.15, as a specific Investigation never to this day completed as requested.

So my Neck (only) Injuries Claim ZB23273, as
I timely filed, only because my original Right Shoulder,
and Neck Injuries Claim ZB21147 was not medically,
then not legally, adjudicated, as a timely filed Injuries
Claim ZB21147,,, was rejected based solely on a,,,
,,,,"current medical opinion",,, CP at 5-66 App. Ex. 6,
to mean, Dr. Sullivans' IME,,, not based on a Neck
Injury. CP at 5-66 App. Ex. 8, as transcript page 81,
at 5-6,,, Dr. Sullivan,,, "I was never asked if he had an
injury, I did not address it"... To mean, by the Department.

8

This proves my point, and yet Dr. Sullivans'

August 21, 2017 IME,,, is the ,,,"current medical opinion",,, my June 21, 2017 timely filed Neck Injury Claim ZB21147 was rejected, and, the ,,,"current medical opinion",,, my timely filed within 1 'ACT' statutory year January 4, 2018 Neck (only) Injury Claim ZB23273 was rejected, as fact.

See my May 16, 2019 timely filed Board Of Appeals
Petition For Review, for my *McDonald v Department*Of Labor & Industries as both Docket 17 25495, and
Docket 18 10796 Raised Objections, as CABR 33-61.

See from *McGuire*,,, "In fact, as already indicated, the evidence offered by the claimant upon the vital issue has not been met by the department"...

McGuire 'vital issue', as my 'vital issue' of, why was my Neck Injury Department 'segregated', with no medical record of a specifically diagnosed, known, or active, or treated, 'pre-existing' Neck condition, prior to my January 30, 2017 Neck Injury, meets RAP 13.4 (a)(b)(1) mandate, as prevailing. 9 As the 'Segregation Rules' must clearly include RCW 51.32.080(5), and RCW 51.32.100, confirmed by Supreme Court in *Dennis v Department Of Labor* & Industries 109 Wn. 2d 467, 470 745 P.2d 1295, (1987),,, as Dennis ultimately is an Occupational Disease case, 'injury' must be statutorily distinguished, as *Dennis* at *476,,, specific to RCW 51.32.080(3),,, "That section requires segregation of the preexisting Supra: Superior Court segregation rules argument RP at 8. disability, from whatever cause"... Even if,,, as in Dennis, NOTES [1],,, the Department argues that "the term "occupational disease" may include disability due to aggravation of a nonwork-related disease",,, to somehow attempt to justify why the Department adjudicated my June 21, 2017 timely filed Neck Injury Claim ZB21147, and January 4, 2018 timely filed Neck (only) Injury Claim ZB23273 as the same Neck Injury, adjudicated only on Neck 'Occupational Disease', the Department must first prove prior to my January 30, 2017 Injuries, any such known, active, diagnosed, 'pre-existing' condition in my Cervical Neck, as legally 'pre-existing', and as disability to be able to ,,,legally,,, 'segregate'. Dennis... This will be my claim Department impossible.

And, even if, as the Department can, exercise its discretion, to (same claim) either adjudicate as statutory injury, or statutory occupational disease, the Department must still legally support 'pre-existing' (prior to filed claim), to legally support 'segregation'.

That will be my Neck Injury Claim(s) ZB21147-ZB23273 impossible. Then 'segregation' is not legal.

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