FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/30/2022 9:54 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 100890-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL J. COLLINS,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Paul Weideman Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 42254 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389–3820

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Collins meets none of the RAP 13.4 criteria that he cites for review. His strategy in calling a medical witness that did not support his case is not a matter of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4), as it affects only his case. Collins shows no conflict with any other appellate case warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2), as the Court of Appeals applied well-settled law on causation. Nor does Collins's failure to present necessary evidence raise any significant constitutional question under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

A. The Court of Appeals Applied Well-Settled Law that a Worker Must Present Medical Evidence of Causation

Decades of this Court's case law establish that a party who appeals an L&I order that involves a medical question—such as whether a workplace incident or work duties caused a medical condition—must present expert medical evidence to establish that the incident or duties caused the medical condition on a more-probable-than-not basis. *Sacred Heart*

Med. Ctr. v. Carrado, 92 Wn.2d 631, 636, 600 P.2d 1015 (1979); RCW 51.52.050(2)(a).³ The Court of Appeals applied

³ Many cases from this Court support that a worker must prove causation through medical testimony. Street v. Weyerhaeuser Co., 189 Wn.2d 187, 194, 399 P.3d 1156 (2017) (causal connection in the "arises proximately" test for an occupational disease must be established by competent medical testimony on a medically more-probable-than-not basis); Dennis v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 109 Wn.2d 467, 477, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987) ("The causal connection between a claimant's physical condition and his or her employment must be established by competent medical testimony which shows that the disease is probably, as opposed to possibly, caused by the employment."); Sayler v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 69 Wn.2d 893, 896, 421 P.2d 362 (1966) ("A claimant must establish by the testimony of competent medical experts that there is a Probable (as distinguished from a Possible) causal relationship between an industrial injury and a subsequent physical condition."); Favor v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 53 Wn.2d 698, 704-05, 336 P.2d 382 (1959) ("Statements by a claimant as to purely subjective conditions, peculiar to himself, do not provide the objective circumstances necessary to establish that a claimant's disease arose naturally and proximately from his employment."); Page v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 52 Wn.2d 706, 709, 328 P.2d 663 (1958) ("The extent of the disability, as it exists at any relevant date, must be determined by medical testimony, some of it based upon objective symptoms." (internal quotations omitted)); Stampas v. Dep't of Lab. & *Indus.*, 38 Wn.2d 48, 50, 227 P.2d 739 (1951) ("The probability of a causal connection between the industrial injury and the subsequent physical condition, must be established by the testimony of medical experts."); Ehman v. Dep't of Lab. &

this well-established case law to Collins's case. He failed to present causation testimony that supported his case. Applying the law correctly offers no reason for review under RAP 13.4.

1. L&I must rely on medical evidence to make segregation decisions

Not showing any basis under RAP 13.4 for review,

Collins fails to discuss this firmly-rooted precedent and instead advocates a novel theory about segregation orders, without any supporting legal authority. He argues that "segregation" of a medical condition—that is, a determination by L&I that a workplace event or a worker's job duties did not cause a medical condition—is a "legal determination" that only L&I can make, not a "medical doctor." Pet. 6, 15. He asserts segregation "is a 'legal concept' to be determined by [L&I], not a medical concept determined by a medical doctor." Pet. 18. So he argues that his writ of mandamus should have been granted since L&I "had no discretion to 'segregate' [his] [n]eck

11

Indus., 33 Wn.2d 584, 598, 206 P.2d 787 (1949) (medical testimony must be in terms of probability, not possibility).

[i]njury." Pet. 9; *see also* Pet. 14, 29, 36. He cites no case law for these propositions, so the Court should disregard them, just as the Court of Appeals did. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992); *Collins*, 2022 WL 168101, at *2 n.1. An unsupported legal theory offers no basis for review under RAP 13.4.

In any case, this unsupported theory is wrong. L&I cannot determine the cause of a medical condition in the absence of medical evidence. Causation is a medical question. *E.g. Street*, 189 Wn.2d at 194; *Dennis*, 109 Wn.2d at 477; *Sacred Heart Med. Ctr.*, 92 Wn.2d at 636. L&I cannot make medical determinations in a vacuum: it needs medical opinions to process claims. Collins's unsupported theory would lead to arbitrary decisions on causation with no basis in medical science.

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly applied the law on causation and segregation. Failing to identify any legal authority that supports his claim, Collins instead cites three

pages in L&I's Medical Examiners' Handbook to support a claim that segregation is a "legal concept." Pet. 18. The handbook is not legal authority—it is guidance for doctors performing independent medical exams—but it also does not support Collins's claim, as it informs medical examiners that L&I needs their "best medical judgment" to determine whether a preexisting condition should be segregated from a claim.

Wash. State Dep't of Lab. & Indus., *Medical Examiners' Handbook* 38 (2021). Medical opinions are needed for claim decisions.

Collins argues that the Court of Appeals never "addressed the factual/legal argument in my Appeal," which appears to be his argument that L&I's order segregating his cervical degenerative disc disease was illegal for the reasons above. Pet. 1, 3. But the court did address his argument. It

⁴ The Medical Examiners' Handbook can be found at https://lni.wa.gov/forms-publications/F252-001-000.pdf.

identified his argument that L&I's "decision was not discretionary because segregation is a legal concept that his claim manager was incapable of reaching" *Collins*, 2022 WL 168101, at *2 n.1. But it refused to consider the argument because it was not briefed and lacked citations to the record and legal authority. *Id*.

Collins also seems to argue that L&I had the burden in his case, despite that the Legislature specifically requires a party challenging an L&I order to make a prima facie case. RCW 51.52.050(2)(a). He says L&I had to "present an affirmative defense" and "prove with a specific Neck medical exam" that he had a pre-existing neck condition that had been diagnosed and treated before he filed his claim. Pet. 6. He cites no authority for this theory and it is contrary to the Court's oft-stated explanation that, under the Industrial Insurance Act, workers are "held to strict proof of their right to receive benefits" under the Act. *Cyr v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 47 Wn.2d 92, 97, 286 P.2d 1038 (1955) (internal quotation omitted);

Hastings v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 24 Wn.2d 1, 12, 163 P.2d 142 (1945); Clausen v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 15 Wn.2d 62, 68, 129 P.2d 777 (1942); accord Kirk v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 192 Wash. 671, 674, 74 P.2d 227 (1937); Robinson v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 181 Wn. App. 415, 427, 326 P.3d 744 (2014) (internal quotation omitted).

2. Because causation is a medical question, the deliberative process of an L&I claims manager is irrelevant

The Court of Appeals held that "Collins was not entitled to have his claim manager testify, because such testimony would not help him establish his prima facie case." *Collins*, 2022 WL 168101, at *4. That is a correct application of the law on medical causation. A claims manager is not a doctor who can opine on medical causation. Collins's premise is that segregation is a "'legal concept' to be determined by [L&I]" (Pet. 18), so the claims manager is a necessary witness. Pet. 16, 40. But, as explained above, that premise is wrong, so his argument for compelling the claim's manager's testimony is

baseless. Additionally, as discussed further below, well-established law makes clear that L&I's deliberative processes for making claim decisions are irrelevant. *Nationscapital*, 133 Wn. App. at 762 (2006); *McDonald*, 104 Wn. App. at 623.

B. Collins Fails to Show Any Conflict Warranting Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2)

Collins cannot show that the Court of Appeals decision in his case conflicts with any decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). None of the three cases that he cites—*McGuire*, *McDonald*, and *Orr*—are in any way inconsistent with the Court of Appeals' opinion. Pet. 18, 37-38.

First, there is no conflict with *McGuire v. Department of Labor & Industries*, 179 Wash. 645, 38 P.2d 266 (1934), the only case Collins cites as a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). Pet. 20, 26, 38. In *McGuire*, a worker presented "medical testimony" that a work injury "lighted up and made active" a pre-existing arthritic condition. *McGuire*, 179 Wash. at 648-49. *McGuire* is consistent with the Court of Appeals' opinion here because it requires "medical testimony" to support

16

causation—in this case, under the "lighting up" theory of causation. *Id.* Though Collins's theory also appears to be that his work injury or work conditions "lit up" his degenerative neck condition, he failed to present any medical evidence supporting that theory, unlike the worker in *McGuire*. Indeed, his medical witness said the opposite, testifying that Collins's degenerative cervical conditions were "not caused by nor lit up by nor aggravated" by occupational exposure. CP 2789-90. *McGuire* is consistent with the Court of Appeals' decision—Collins just didn't present enough evidence to meet the *McGuire* standard. There is no conflict with *McGuire*.

Second, Collins shows no conflict with *Orr v*.

Department of Labor & Industries, 10 Wn. App. 697, 519 P.2d 1334 (1974). Pet. 37, 38. That case addressed whether substantial evidence supported a permanent partial disability award under a statute not at issue here. *Orr*, 10 Wn. App. at 700, 705 (citing RCW 51.32.080(3)). Collins's case does not involve calculation of permanent partial disability.

Finally, Collins shows no conflict with *McDonald*. Pet. 7. That case held that "the processes [L&I] employed in reaching its ultimate decision" on a claim decision are irrelevant.

McDonald, 104 Wn. App. at 623; *see also Nationscapital*, 133 Wn. App. at 762 ("Courts should not probe the mental processes of administrative officials in making a decision.").

McDonald is why L&I officials had no "legal obligation to testify" (Pet. 7), contrary to Collins's arguments, because the reasons they made decisions on Collins's claim are not relevant.⁵

Here, the Court of Appeals did not discuss *McDonald* but held that Collins was not entitled to have his claim manager testify because "such testimony would not help him establish

⁵ Collins also cites *State v. Fitzpatrick*, 5 Wn. App. 661, 491 P.2d 262 (1971), while mentioning "conflict," but it is unclear whether he asserts a conflict with this case. Pet. 17-18. There is none. *Fitzpatrick* addressed criteria for publishing opinions and an interpretation of a criminal statute that has no bearing here. *Fitzpatrick*, 5 Wn. App. 668-70.

his prima facie case." *Collins*, 2022 WL 168101, at *4. This statement recognizes that Collins needed medical evidence to support his causation claim, and that an L&I claims manager could not provide medical testimony.

Collins seems to argue that because the Court of Appeals did not "address" *McDonald* in its opinion, this presents a basis for review. Pet. 8, 18. A failure to address a case is not a basis for review. RAP 13.4. More to the point, a court has no obligation to address a case that a party raises when, as here, the court had another basis for resolving the issue.

Collins also tries to factually distinguish his case from *McDonald*, but any factual differences would affect only him and would not be a basis for review. *See* Pet. 7 (saying the worker in *McDonald* showed "neglect"); Pet. 19 (saying the worker in *McDonald* did not "timely request[] Department testimony"). He uses these purported differences to assert that "*McDonald* does not preclude Department testimony as specific to my case." Pet. 9. But Collins has to show a conflict with

McDonald, not just that his case is different. RAP 13.4(b)(2). As noted, he can show no conflict.⁶

C. None of Collins's Remaining Arguments Offer a Basis for Review Under RAP 13.4

Collins raises a plethora of other arguments about how L&I handled his claim. The Court of Appeals "refuse[d] to address" many of these arguments because they "were not fully briefed and lacked citations to the record or legal authority." *Collins*, 2022 WL 168101, at *2 n.1. This Court should do the same. Unclear and unsupported arguments are not a basis for

⁶ McDonald explained that "[L&I's] deliberative processes were irrelevant" to the factfinder's decision. McDonald, 104 Wn. App. at 623. Despite this, Collins says McDonald's "deliberative process privilege" does not protect an L&I claims manager because a "claims manager is not a policy-maker." Pet. 16. But McDonald says all deliberative processes are irrelevant, not just those of "policy-makers." See McDonald, 104 Wn. App. at 623. A Board case that Collins cites also does not support his arguments as they involve statutes that applied an abuse of discretion standard to the decisions at issue, unlike here. Pet. 16 (citing In re Pablo Garcia, No. 05 15329, 2006 WL 1979310 (Wash. Bd. Indus. Ins. App. Mar. 28, 2006)).

review. To the extent that these arguments are discernable, they are incorrect and offer no reason for review under RAP 13.4.

Collins disputes the testimony and credibility of his own medical witness, but that is an argument for a factfinder. For example, he disputes the basis for Dr. Sullivan's testimony about his pre-existing neck conditions, arguing that she could not know whether his condition was "active" and "pre-existing." Pet. 6. That goes to what weight a factfinder should give her testimony. He argues that Dr. Sullivan's testimony "was all the medical testimony [he] . . . needed" (Pet. 4), but this is incorrect as she did not support his theory on causation.

Collins cites RAP 13.4(b)(3) as a basis for review. Pet. 10-11, 13-15. But as the Court of Appeals noted, his constitutional arguments on property and due process rights are unsupported. *Collins*, 2022 WL 168101, at *2 n.1. Collins argues that he possessed "as fact *de jure*" a "protected property interest" under the state constitution in his workers' compensation claim and that once L&I approves a claim "it

cannot be altered, or statutorily perverted" by segregating a condition without "a 'pre-deprivation' process." Pet. 15; see also Pet. 11. But he does not address the case law on predeprivation versus post-deprivation process, he cites *Mathews* v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976) without applying its factors, and his argument ignores that he had two Board hearings where he could present any medical witnesses he wished to prove causation. Pet. 15. He had a full opportunity to assail L&I's order. "[N]aked castings into the constitutional sea are not sufficient to command judicial consideration and discussion." Crystal Ridge Homeowners Ass'n v. City of Bothell, 182 Wn.2d 665, 679, 343 P.3d 746 (2015) (alteration in original) (quoting *In re Rosier*, 105 Wn.2d 606, 616, 717 P.2d 1353 (1986)).

Collins argues that L&I did not fulfill its statutory
mandate in RCW 51.32.080(3)(a) and (5). Both those statutes
address how L&I should calculate a permanent partial disability
(PPD) award when the worker has a previous disability in the

same body part. Collins's case does not involve a PPD award, which is only awarded when a claim is closed because the worker's medical condition is fixed and stable. *See* RCW 51.32.055(1), .080. The issue in Collins's appeals is causation of his degenerative disc disease, so the PPD statutes do not apply.

V. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review.

This document contains 3368 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.